No. 45069-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

IN RE THE ESTATE OF: EVA JOHANNA ROVA BARNES,

Deceased.

VICKI ROVA MUELLER, KAREN BOW, MARSHA ROVA, AND JOHN ROVA,

Respondents,

۷.

MICHELLE WELLS and DENNIS WELLS,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAW OFFICES OF DAVID P. HORTON, INC. PS

David P. Horton, WSBA 27123 3212 NW Byron Street, Ste 104 Silverdale, WA 98383 (360) 692-9444 MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033

Attorneys for Appellants

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR			
ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR			
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 4			
	a lost her daughter and her husband of nearly 70 ars in 2004 and 20054		
B. E	a grew close to Michelle5		
	en Eva fell in 2009, the Rovas wanted to put her a facility, causing a rift5		
	a returned home and recovered with Michelle's p, but the rift with the Rovas worsened		
	a changed her will for carefully documented isons7		
	a fell again, but did not recover, passing away a v weeks before her 95 th birthday		
G. P	ocedural history		
ARGUMENT			
	a's will is presumptively valid, and the Rovas vays bear the burden of proof		
	e trial court improperly concluded that the outtable <i>Dean</i> presumption went unrebutted		
1	The Wells presented substantial evidence rebutting the <i>Dean</i> presumption		
	a. Eva was strong minded 18		
	b. Attorney Tolman documented the reasons Eva changed her will, as the Rovas largely agreed		
2	The trial court erred in failing to conclude that the Wells balanced the scales		
а	e trial court's presumption analysis was flawed, d it failed to make sufficient findings of undue luence		
CONCLUSION			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
<i>In re Beck's Estate</i> , 79 Wash. 331, 140 Pac. 340 (1914)
<i>Bradley v. S.L. Savidge, Inc.</i> , 13 Wn.2d 28, 123 P.2d 780 (1942)13, 14, 15
Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley , 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)17
Dean v. Jordan , 194 Wash. 661, 79 P.2d 331 (1938) <i>passim</i>
<i>In re Estate of Bottger</i> , 14 Wn.2d 676, 129 P.2d 518 (1942) <i>passim</i>
<i>In re Estate of Bussler</i> , 160 Wn. App. 449, 247 P.3d 821 (2011)
<i>In re Estate of Johanson</i> , 178 Wash. 628, 35 P.2d 52 (1934) 12
<i>In re Estate of Jones</i> , 170 Wn. App. 594, 287 P.3d 610 (2012)
<i>In re Estate of Lint</i> , 135 Wn.2d 518, 957 P.2d 755 (1998)15, 16, 31
<i>In re Estate of Reilly</i> , 78 Wn.2d 623, 479 P.2d 1 (1970)12, 15
<i>In re Estate of Schafer</i> , 8 Wn.2d 517, 113 P.2d 41 (1941) 15
<i>In re Estate of Smith</i> , 68 Wn.2d 145, 411 P.2d 879 (1966)13, 15

	<i>Foster v. Brady</i> , 198 Wash. 13, 86 P.2d 760 (1939) 15
	<i>In re Indian Trail Trunk Sewer</i> , 35 Wn. App. 840, 670 P.2d 675 (1983) 14
	<i>In re Marriage of Akon</i> , 160 Wn. App. 48, 248 P.3d 94 (2011)
,	<i>Scarpelli v. Wash. Water Power Co.</i> , 63 Wash. 18, 114 Pac. 870 (1911)
	<i>In re Trust & Estate of Melter</i> , 167 Wn. App. 285, 273 P.3d 1991 (2012) <i>passim</i>
	Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan Cnty., 141 Wn.2d 169, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)

.

INTRODUCTION

By all accounts, Eva Barnes was an intelligent, strong-willed woman. But Eva was estranged from her nieces and nephew, the Rovas.¹ She felt ostracized by them and did not trust them. The Rovas themselves conceded that during the last two years of Eva's life they were estranged.

Eva wanted to live out her days in her Poulsbo home, where she happily lived for many years with her husband and daughter. After a fall in 2009, the ninety-three-year-old wanted to return home as soon as she could. But the Rovas thought she should live in an assisted-living facility. This widened the rift.

Michelle Wells was Eva's mail carrier and friend. After her fall, Eva relied on Michelle to check on her, shop with her, and help her get by on her own. Their mutual friendship grew. As her physical health deteriorated, Eva came to rely on Michelle and her family for support and companionship.

After an explosive meeting at her attorney's office, Eva first changed her power of attorney from her niece Vickie to Michelle. Several months later, Eva changed her will. Eva's lawyer, Jeff

¹ The "Rovas" are the respondents Vicki Mueller, Karen Bow, Marsha Rova, and John Rova. First names are used for clarity.

Tolman, with 35 years' experience, took extraordinary steps to ensure his client's will was not a product of undue influence. He was sure that Eva had capacity to make her will.

Eva's will is presumed valid. But because of the close relationship between Eva and Michelle, a rebutable presumption of undue influence arose. The Wells rebutted that presumption with evidence of independence and capacity from Eva's lawyer, friends, and others. The Rovas then failed to provide clear, cogent, and convincing evidence of undue influence.

The trial court erroneously relied on the rebutable presumption. It presumed that because the will change was "unnatural," it must be a product of undue influence. But the presumption was rebutted, and the Rovas were required to prove undue influence by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. They failed to do so, and no findings say that they did. This Court should reverse and dismiss.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in concluding that the evidence produced at trial was insufficient to overcome the rebuttable presumption of undue influence. CP 1115-16 (C/L 21, 22) (Findings & Conclusions attached as App. A).

 The trial court erred in concluding that because the will was "unnatural" (C/L 20) it must have been a product of undue influence.
 CP 1115.

3. The trial court erred in concluding that Michelle participated in the procurement of Eva's will. CP 1114 (C/L 13).

The trial court erred in ruling that clear, cogent, and convincing evidence established Eva's will was the product of undue influence.
CP 1113, 1115-16 (C/L 11-22).

5. The trial court erred in entering judgment against the Wells and awarding them costs. CP 1156-57.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that the Wells presented insufficient proof to rebut the *Dean* presumption of undue influence?

2. Did the trial court err by not requiring proof of undue influence apart from the presumption?

3. Did the trial court fail to make proper findings to support a conclusion that the Rovas proved undue influence by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence?

4. Is driving a person to her lawyer's office and attending one mediation "participating in the procurement" of her will?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Eva lost her daughter and her husband of nearly 70 years in 2004 and 2005.

Eva Rova Barnes was born in 1916. FF 1, CP 1090. She was married to Ray Barnes for almost seventy years, until his death in 2005. FF 2, CP 1091. They had a daughter, Karolyn, who died in 2004. *Id.* The loss of her husband and their child so close in time was a major blow to Eva. *Id.*

Eva's brother, Victor Rova, died in 1993. RP 27. Victor had four children, Marsha Rova, Vicki Rova Mueller, John Rova and Karen Bow. RP 27-28; FF 3, CP 1091. The nieces and nephew ("the Rovas") were the will contestants and are the respondents here.

For most of her life, Eva lived on property in Poulsbo to which she moved with her family in 1918. FF 4-5, CP 1090-91. Her estate included this property, along with a one-half interest in the adjacent property once owned by her parents. She co-owned that property with the Rovas after Victor died. FF 4-5, CP 1091-1092.

After Eva's husband and daughter died, she executed a will that named Vicki Mueller as her personal representative and left her estate to the Rovas. FF 8, CP 1092.

B. Eva grew close to Michelle.

Michelle Wells was Eva's rural mail carrier since 1997. FF 39, CP 1099; RP 625-26. After Mr. Barnes and Karolyn died, Michelle and Eva grew closer, becoming friends. FF 39, CP 1099. They "clicked" and loved each other. RP 630.

Initially, they would spend time chatting on Eva's front porch. RP 626-28. Michelle took Eva places and they did things together – family holidays and parties. RP 629. By 2009, they did something together every weekend. RP 634.

C. When Eva fell in 2009, the Rovas wanted to put her in a facility, causing a rift.

On March 26, 2009, Eva fell in her kitchen. FF 13, CP 1093. She was unable to get up on her own and was unable to summon help. *Id.* She laid helpless on her kitchen floor for two-and-a-half days before she was discovered. *Id.* An ambulance took her to the hospital. RP 637-38. She was discharged after three days and admitted to Martha & Mary for recovery. FF 15-16, CP 1094.

Eva recovered fairly quickly. FF 16, CP 1094. As she became hydrated and rested, her strength returned. *Id.* She wanted to return home as soon as possible, despite the strong recommendations of her doctor and the Rovas. FF 19, CP 1095; RP 48.

5

į.

The Rovas wanted to place Eva in an assisted-living facility. FF 32, CP 1097. Eva had a desperate fear of not being able to return home. FF 34, CP 1097-98. This caused her to be suspicious of the Rovas. *Id.* Nevertheless, because Dr. Kina believed that Eva was competent to make her own decisions, he reluctantly allowed her discharge. FF 20, CP 1095; RP 662.

D. Eva returned home and recovered with Michelle's help, but the rift with the Rovas worsened.

Eva did well upon her return home, thanks to her strong will and Michelle's efforts. FF 37, CP 1098. Michelle became increasingly involved in Eva' affairs, and Eva became increasingly dependent on Michelle for her care. FF 38, CP 1098. Michelle visited her once or more a day. *Id.*

Eva stopped driving in May 2010, and Michelle became her primary source of transportation. RP 745-46. This included driving Eva to doctor and lawyer appointments. FF 51, CP 1103. While Eva grew closer to Michelle during the last few years of her life, she became less involved with the Rovas. FF 39, CP 1099. This was Eva's choice. *Id.* Eva felt ostracized by them. FF 44, CP 1100.

Eva was a hoarder, and her home was filled with piles of newspapers, magazines, and other items. FF 27, CP 1096. This

caused great concern after her fall. FF 25-28, CP 1096. The Rovas and Michelle therefore pitched-in to clean the home before Eva's return. FF 28, CP 1096; RP 135-36, 346. Items were discarded. *Id.*

Upon her return home, Eva was angry that her things had been thrown away. RP 59, 142, 179, 314-15. She focused most of that anger on John and Marsha, blaming them for throwing her address book away. *Id.* The trial court found that the Rovas did not destroy the address book, but that it may have been lost or destroyed. FF 31, CP 1097.

E. Eva changed her will for carefully documented reasons.

On November 17, 2010, Eva met with Vickie at the office of her attorney, Jeff Tolman. FF 48, CP 1102. Tolman has been an attorney for 35 years, with the last 10 focused on estate planning. RP 558-59. Prior to Mr. Barnes' death, he did the couples' estate planning in 2004 or 2005. RP 559. Tolman had called the meeting because Eva wanted to remove Vicki as her power of attorney and Tolman wanted to try to "mediate" the differences. FF 48-49, CP 1102; RP 574-575. Eva was angry at Vicki and "ranted" about the ways the Rovas had wronged her. FF 49, CP 1102. Michelle drove Eva to the meeting and participated in some of it. FF 50, CP 1103. She told

Tolman how the Rovas had thrown out the address book, upsetting Eva. *Id*.

During the failed "mediation" at his office, it was clear to Tolman that Eva did not want Vicki to manage her day-to-day affairs any longer, and Vicki agreed. RP 577. On December 10, 2010, Eva executed a new power of attorney, naming Michelle her attorney-in-fact. FF 52, CP 1103. Eva also told Tolman that she wanted to change her estate plan. RP 577-581.

While Tolman moved quickly in changing the power of attorney, he wanted to move slowly and deliberately regarding the estate planning. RP 580-82. He delayed carrying out Eva's wishes for several months, allowing for a "cool[ing] off" period. RP 582.

Nonetheless, on March 3, 2011, Eva executed a new will naming the Wells as her beneficiaries. FF 60, CP 1105; FF 63, CP 1106. This will was a "radical departure" from her previous wills because it made no provision for the Rovas as previous wills had. FF 63, CP 1106.

Tolman prepared a memo documenting Eva's reasons for changing her will. FF 62, CP 1106; Ex 88, p. 5 (copy attached as App. B). Tolman had never before done this type of memo. *Id.* His memo detailed the reasons for the changes (App. B; RP 585):

1. It is clear Michelle has been a good friend and helper to you over the past few years.

2. You have had a falling out with your nieces and nephews over the past couple of years, believing they (1) tried to get a (unwarranted) Guardianship over you, (2) tried to move you off your property into assisted living (which you did not want), (3) tried to get rid of tenants against your wishes on the property you co-own with them, and (4) you feel they have treated you badly (though I know from our meeting with them they would disagree).

Tolman's memo concludes (App. B):

Eva, you and I have spoken often about this situation over the past year or so. I believe you know the members of your family, the nature and extent of your property and that it is your wish to put Michelle and her husband in your Will as your heirs. I also believe you understand that your biological family will likely feel Michelle somehow influenced or coerced you into placing her in your Will. If there is a Will contest I can not be involved, as I would likely be a witness. And I do, after my discussions with you, alone, [believe] that you are aware of these things and the change in your Will is your fee and voluntary choice.

F. Eva fell again, but did not recover, passing away a few weeks before her 95th birthday.

On May 25, 2011, Eva fell outside her home. FF 74, CP 1109.

She refused to go to the hospital and was soon in hospice care. FF

74-76, CP 1109. On June 27, 2011, Eva died in her home at 94 years

of age, just a few weeks before her 95th birthday. FF 1, CP 1090.

G. Procedural history.

Eva's will naming the Wells as her beneficiaries was admitted to probate on July 1, 2011. CP 3-6. The respondents filed a will contest on October 13, 2011, alleging that Eva lacked testamentary capacity and undue influence. CP 9-10.

Trial lasted five days in February 2013. RP 815. The trial court did not find that Eva lacked capacity, but invalidated the will based on undue influence. App. A, CL 7, CP 1112; CL 22, CP 1115-16. Specifically, the court concluded that the Rovas had established a presumption of undue influence; that the Wells did not put forth sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption; and that – based on the presumption – clear, cogent, and convincing evidence established undue influence. App. A, CL 11, CP 1113; CL 22, CP 1115-16.

More specifically, the trial court's conclusions of law 8 through 21 set out the evidence and conclusions that support the trial court's finding that the *Dean* presumption applied. App. A, CP 1112-15. Illustrative of the trial court's flawed analysis is the court's discussion of the nature of the estate property at issue (RP 871):

I cannot conceive of her disinheriting her nieces and nephews from, at least, the property that they owned jointly with herand leaving that one-half interest to a non-family member. This property had been homesteaded by her parents. The nieces and nephews are the direct lineal descendants of the homesteaders. I cannot imagine Ms. Barnes making this absolutely radical and unnatural change in her estate plan unless she was subjected to the influence that the testimony suggests she was vulnerable to.

This oral finding is reflected in FF 5, and in CL 20. App. A, CP 1091-92, 1115. The court apparently relied on assumptions and presumptions to obviate the requirement that the Rovas prove undue influence by clear and convincing evidence.

As argued below, this exhibits the trial court's fundamental misunderstanding of the contestants' ultimate burden to prove undue influence. The court essentially found that the only way Eva would disinherit the Rovas was if she was subject to undue influence. The court then concluded, without making any factual findings to support the conclusion, that the Wells failed to produce evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption. App. A, CL 21, CP 1115. The trial court relied solely on the presumption to establish that clear and convincing evidence supported a finding of undue influence. See App. A, FF 22, CP 1115-16.

The court entered a judgment for statutory costs. CP 1156-57. The Wells timely appealed. CP 1124; CP 1158.

ARGUMENT

A. Eva's will is presumptively valid, and the Rovas always bear the burden of proof.

Eva's will is presumed valid:

[W]here a will, rational on its face, is shown to have been executed in legal form, the law presumes that the testator had testamentary capacity and that the will speaks his wishes.

In re Estate of Bottger, 14 Wn.2d 676, 685, 129 P.2d 518 (1942).

To overcome this strong legal presumption, cogent and convincing evidence is required. *See, e.g., In re Estate of Johanson*, 178 Wash. 628, 629-30, 35 P.2d 52 (1934); *In re Estate of Reilly*, 78 Wn.2d 623, 646, 479 P.2d 1 (1970).

In certain circumstances, such as the close personal relationship between Eva and Michelle, a rebuttable presumption of undue influence may arise. *Dean v. Jordan*, 194 Wash. 661, 671-72, 79 P.2d 331 (1938). *Dean* sums up its presumption as follows:

[C]ertain facts and circumstances bearing upon the execution of a will may be of such nature and force as to raise a suspicion, varying in its strength, against the validity of the testamentary instrument. The most important of such facts are: (1) that the beneficiary occupied a fiduciary or confidential relation to the testator; (2) that the beneficiary actively participated in the preparation or procurement of the will; and (3) that the beneficiary received an unusually or unnaturally large part of the estate. Added to these may be other considerations such as the age or condition of health and mental vigor of the testator, the nature or degree of relationship between the testator and the beneficiary, the opportunity for exerting an undue influence, and the naturalness or unnaturalness of the will. The weight of any of such facts will, of course, vary according to the circumstances of the particular case. Any one of them may, and variously should, appeal to the vigilance of the court and cause it to proceed with caution and carefully to scrutinize the evidence offered to establish the will.

194 Wash. at 671-72. But mere suspicion is not enough:

Mere suspicion of undue influence is not enough, although we have recognized that in a particular case the facts may be of such a suspicious nature as to raise a presumption of fraud or undue influence, and that unless this presumption is met by evidence to the contrary, it may suffice to overthrow the will.

Bottger, 14 Wn.2d at 703.

And the rebuttable **Dean** presumption never shifts the ultimate

burden of proof from the will challenger (e.g.):

The existence of the presumption imposes upon the [will] proponents "the duty to come forward with evidence sufficient at least to balance the scales and restore the equilibrium of evidence touching the validity of the will"; it does not, however, relieve the contestants from the duty of establishing their contention by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence.

In re Estate of Smith, 68 Wn.2d 145, 154, 411 P.2d 879 (1966)

(emphasis original) (quoting *Dean*, 194 Wash at 672). That is, once

evidence rebutting the presumption is presented, the burden of proof

remains on the will contestants to prove undue influence by clear,

cogent, and convincing evidence. Id.; Bradley v. S.L. Savidge, Inc.,

13 Wn.2d 28, 42, 123 P.2d 780 (1942).

Generally speaking, presumptions "are the bats of the law, flitting in the twilight but disappearing in the sunshine of actual facts." *In re Indian Trail Trunk Sewer*, 35 Wn. App. 840, 843, 670 P.2d 675 (1983) (internal quotes and citation omitted). "A presumption is not evidence and its efficacy is lost when the other party adduces credible evidence to the contrary." *In re Marriage of Akon*, 160 Wn. App. 48, 62, 248 P.3d 94 (2011) (quoting *Indian Trial*, 35 Wn. App. at 843). A presumption serves in the place of evidence "only until *prima facie* evidence has been adduced by the opposite party"; but "*the presumption should never be placed in the scale of evidence*."

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