### No. 45069-1-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Estate of:

EVA JOHANNA ROVA BARNES,

Deceased.

VICKI ROVA MUELLER, KAREN BOW, MARSHA AND JOHN ROVA,

Respondents,

v.

MICHELLE WELLS and DENNIS WELLS,

Appellants.

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KITSAP COUNTY THE HONORABLE BROOKE TAYLOR

### AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

SANCHEZ MITCHELL, EASTMAN & CURE, PSC SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Kevin W. Cure WSBA No. 34409 By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

4110 Kitsap Way, Suite 200 Bremerton, WA 98312-2401 (360) 479-3000 1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondents

###

I.	INTRODUCTION					
II.	RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES					
III.	RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE 3					
	A.	Restatement of Facts				
		1.	The respondents are the surviving nieces and nephew of Eva Barnes. Appellant is her former mail carrier			
		2.	The Rovas had a close and loving relationship with their father's sister, their Aunt Eva			
		3.	Eva's prior wills left her estate to her nieces and nephew, the Rovas, as her only surviving relatives			
		4.	Eva and the Rovas stayed close following Eva's surgery in 20067			
		5.	Eva's mental and emotional health deteriorated significantly after Eva suffered a fall at her home.			
		6.	As Eva became increasingly dependent upon her mail carrier, Michelle, she grew increasingly distant from her nieces and nephew			
		7.	Michelle encouraged Eva's hostility toward the Rovas by falsely accusing them of seeking to sell the jointly owned rental property			

		8.	Eva substituted Michelle for Vicki as Eva's attorney-in-fact. In a meeting with Eva's attorney to discuss Eva's power of attorney, Michelle repeated the false accusation that the Rovas destroyed Eva's address book			
		9.	Eva directed her attorney to prepare a new will leaving her entire estate to Michelle			
		10.	Michelle, who was paying her friends and family using Eva's power of attorney, accused the Rovas of "throwing Eva under the bus."			
		11.	Eva died on June 27, 2011, two days after Michelle wrote a check on Eva's account to pay Michelle's home mortgage.			
	B.	Procedural History25				
IV.	ARGUMENT2					
	A.	Standard of review: As all of the trial court's unchallenged findings are verities on appeal, the trial court's judgment must be affirmed if the findings support its conclusion that Michelle exercised undue influence				
	В.	The trial court correctly applied the burden shifting framework established in <i>Dean v. Jordan</i> in setting aside Eva's will3				
	C.	The trial court's findings support its conclusion that Michelle failed to rebut the presumption of undue influence				
	D.	convi	trial court properly found by clear and ncing evidence that Eva's will was the act of Michelle's undue influence.			

	1.	and c	rial court expressly found by clear onvincing evidence that Eva's will ne product of undue influence
	2.	producourt and overw	ncluding that Eva's will was the act of undue influence the trial applied the proper legal standard its conclusion is supported by whelming direct and circumstantial nce.
		a.	Michelle isolated Eva41
		b.	Michelle was a constant presence 42
		c.	Michelle struggled financially42
		d.	Michelle poisoned Eva's mind against the Rovas43
		e.	Eva suffered from periods of confusion and impairment at the time of the will signing
		f.	Eva was vulnerable to undue influence46
E.			should be awarded their attorneys' al48
v. con	CLUSIC	ON	49

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### STATE CASES

Archer v. Willoughby, 4 Wn. App. 596, 484 P.2d 465 (1971)
Dean v. Jordan, 194 Wash. 661, 79 P.2d 331 (1938)
Estate of Bush, 195 Wash. 416, 81 P.2d 271 (1938)41
Foster v. Brady, 198 Wash. 13, 86 P.2d 760 (1939)41
Fuller v. Employment Sec. Dep't of State of Wash., 52 Wn. App. 603, 762 P.2d 367 (1988)30
Holohan v. Melville, 41 Wn.2d 380, 249 P.2d 777 (1952)
In re Dand's Estate, 41 Wn.2d 158, 247 P.2d 1016 (1952)
In re Estate of Haviland, 162 Wn. App. 548, 255 P.3d 854 (2011)31-32, 34, 36-37, 48
In re Estate of Lint, 135 Wn.2d 518, 957 P.2d 755 (1998)
In re Estate of Pfleghar, 35 Wn. App. 844, 670 P.2d 677 (1983), rev. denied, 100 Wn.2d 1036 (1984)
In re Kessler's Estate, 35 Wn.2d 156, 211 P.2d 496 (1949)
In re Melter, 167 Wn. App. 285, 273 P.3d 991 (2012)

In re Snyder's Welfare, 85 Wn.2d 182, 532 P.2d 278 (1975)31
Matter of Esala's Estate, 16 Wn. App. 764, 559 P.2d 592 (1977)32, 36-37, 41
Morse v. Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 70 P.3d 125 (2003)30
Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc., 153 Wn. App. 710, 225 P.3d 266 (2009), rev. denied, 168 Wn.2d 1041 (2010)30, 36-37
Scott's Excavating Vancouver, LLC v. Winlock Properties, LLC, 176 Wn. App. 335, 308 P.3d 791 (2013), rev. denied, 179 Wn.2d 1011 (2014)
STATUTES
RCW 11.24.050
RCW 11.96A.15048
OTHER AUTHORITIES
6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 1.0341

#### I. INTRODUCTION

A 94-year old woman, physically infirm and suffering from cognitive impairment, changed her will within three months of her death to leave her entire estate to her mail carrier, upon whom she was entirely dependent, and who encouraged the testatrix's paranoid delusion that her nieces and nephew wanted to "throw her under the bus." After carefully considering the credibility of 16 witnesses, and weighing the probative value of 90 exhibits over the course of a five day trial, Judge Brooke Taylor invalidated the will of Eva Johanna Rova Barnes, entering 83 unchallenged findings of fact, and ultimately concluding that the will contestants, her nieces and nephew, produced clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that Eva's will was the product of undue influence by her longtime mail carrier, Michelle Wells. (Appendix A)

Michelle brings a factual appeal dressed up as a challenge to Judge Taylor's legal analysis. Although Michelle does not challenge any of the trial court's findings of fact, her sanitized statement of the case ignores the facts that lie at the heart of the trial court's ultimate finding that the Rovas' met their burden of proving undue influence by clear and convincing evidence.

Michelle concedes that Judge Taylor correctly applied the analytical framework articulated in *Dean v. Jordan*, 194 Wash. 661, 672, 79 P.2d 331 (1938), in concluding that a rebuttable presumption can be raised by "suspicious" facts. She also concedes that suspicious facts sufficient to create a presumption of undue influence abound here.

Contrary to Michelle's argument on appeal, the trial court found not only that Michelle failed to rebut the presumption of undue influence with credible evidence, but that the Rovas established that Michelle exercised undue influence over Eva by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. There was no legal error. This Court should affirm the trial court's judgment and award the Rovas attorney fees on appeal.

#### II. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES

- A. Should this Court defer to the trial court's unchallenged findings that Michelle failed to present sufficient evidence to rebut the *Dean* presumption of undue influence?
- B. Do the trial court's unchallenged findings of fact support its conclusion that there was clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that Eva's will was the product of undue influence on the part of Michelle?

#### III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Restatement of Facts.

Michelle's one-sided statement of facts spins and distorts a small portion of the record to tell the story Michelle wishes were true. The Honorable Brooke Taylor (sitting in Kitsap County Superior Court) ("the trial court") rejected Michelle's sanitized version of her relationship with Eva after carefully considering all of the evidence and weighing the credibility of the witnesses.

Because Michelle does not challenge any of the trial court's findings of fact (Appendix A), they are verities on appeal. This restatement of the case properly presents the evidence supporting those findings and all reasonable inferences from that evidence, in the light most favorable to the Royas, the prevailing parties below:

### 1. The respondents are the surviving nieces and nephew of Eva Barnes. Appellant is her former mail carrier.

Eva Barnes was born on July 17, 1916, in Bellingham, Washington. (FF 1, CP 1127) She died on June 27, 2011 at her home at 94 years of age, just a few weeks before her 95<sup>th</sup> birthday. (FF 1, CP 1127) Eva was survived by her brother Victor's wife, Marian Rova and Marian Rova's children, respondents Marsha

Rova, Vicki Mueller, John Rova and Karen Bow ("the Rovas"). (FF 3, CP 1128)

The Rovas grew up in Poulsbo near Eva, and spent a significant amount of time at Eva's property that has been known for decades locally as the Rova Property. (FF 4, CP 1128) The Rova Property was homesteaded by Eva's parents when Eva was two years old. (FF 5, CP 1128) Eva lived there from 1918 until her death in 2011. (FF 5, CP 1128-29) The Rovas are direct lineal descendents of the homesteaders. (FF 5, CP 1128-29) The Rova Property consists of acreage, Eva's residence, and a small rental house. (FF 5, CP 1128) After her brother's death in 1993, Eva owned a one half interest in the rental property and her brother's adult children, the Rovas owned the other half interest. (RP 27, 74, 118)

Eva lived on the Rova property with her husband Ray Barnes and their only child, Karolyn. (FF 2, CP 1128) Eva's husband Ray died at the age of 96 in 2005. (FF 2, CP 1128) Eva's daughter Karolyn passed away at the age of 48 in 2004. (FF 2, CP 1128)

Appellant Michelle Wells met Eva in 1997 through her employment as a rural mail carrier for the United States Postal Office. (FF 39, CP 1136; RP 625-26) Michelle is 51 years younger

than Eva. (FF 40, CP 1136) Michelle and her husband Dennis Wells are not related to Eva. (FF 40, CP 1136) Michelle and Eva engaged in friendly conversation when Michelle brought Eva her mail. (FF 39, CP 1136) After Ray died, Michelle's visits with Eva increased both in frequency and duration. (FF 39, CP 1136)

### 2. The Rovas had a close and loving relationship with their father's sister, their Aunt Eva.

As children, the Rovas visited their aunt and uncle frequently and played with Karolyn. (FF 4, CP 1128; RP 129) They went on camping trips together. (RP 168) As adults, the Rovas maintained a close and loving relationship with Eva. (FF 3, CP 1128) Following Ray's and Karolyn's deaths, they provided care for Eva, checked in on her frequently, celebrated holidays and special events together, and traveled together. (FF 12, CP 1130; RP 32-36, 43, 168-69, 202) They also jointly owned the rental house on the Rova Property. (FF 5, CP 1128-29)

Karen Bow and her two daughters saw Eva frequently; Eva took them to Seattle, to dinner at the Space Needle, and spoiled the girls at the Disney Store. (RP 169) John, who lived only ten minutes away, helped with maintenance and property repairs on the farm. (RP 205) Vicki visited with Eva every month. (RP 43)

On July 17, 2006, Eva celebrated her 90<sup>th</sup> birthday at Marsha Rova's home in Kitsap County. (FF 12, CP 1130; RP 40) Each of the Rovas and their respective families attended the large and successful celebration. (FF 12, CP 1130) Eva celebrated with the Rovas on Christmas Eve. (RP 43)

### 3. Eva's prior wills left her estate to her nieces and nephew, the Rovas, as her only surviving relatives.

Eva executed her first known will when her husband Ray and her daughter Karolyn were both alive, on March 4, 2004. (FF 6, CP 1129) Under this will, Eva's entire estate was to be distributed upon her death (1) to her husband, Ray; (2) if Ray predeceased Eva, then to her daughter, Karolyn, in trust, to be managed by Vicki Mueller, as trustee; (3) if both Ray and Karolyn predeceased Eva, in four equal shares, one share to each of the Rovas. (FF 6, CP 1129) Eva also executed a durable power of attorney on March 4, 2004. (FF 7, CP 1129) Eva and Ray were named as each other's primary attorney in fact. (FF 7, CP 1129) Vicki Mueller was named as the alternate attorney in fact for both Eva and Ray. (FF 7, CP 1129)

Within eighteen months of the first will, both Ray and Karolyn had passed away. (FF 2, CP 1128) On September 26, 2005, Eva executed a second will that directed her entire estate be

distributed in four equal shares, one share to each of the Rovas — Vicki, Marsha, Karen, and John. (FF 8, CP 1129) This second will nominated Vicki to serve as Eva's personal representative, and Marsha as the alternate personal representative. (FF 8, CP 1129) Eva also executed an individual durable power of attorney on September 26, 2005, which was effective immediately. (FF 9, CP 1129) Eva named Vicki as her attorney in fact, and Marsha as the alternate attorney in fact. (FF 9, CP 1129-30)

### 4. Eva and the Rovas stayed close following Eva's surgery in 2006.

Following the successive deaths of her husband and daughter, Eva exhibited signs of depression. (FF 2, CP 1128; RP 203) On April 29, 2006, Eva had major bowel obstruction surgery at Harrison Medical Center in Bremerton. (FF 10, CP 1130) The medical professionals treating Eva suspected that she was suffering from depression. (FF 10, CP 1130) Eva's physician, Dr. Kina, prescribed an antidepressant. (FF 10, CP 1130) She brightened and was appreciative when her nieces brought her purse and clothes to the hospital following surgery. (RP 38-39, 131)

On May 8, 2006, Eva was discharged from Harrison and admitted to a rehabilitation facility, Martha & Mary, to recover from

the bowel obstruction surgery. (FF 11, CP 1130) She was discharged from Martha & Mary on May 23, 2006, and returned to her home. (FF 11, CP 1130)

The Rovas maintained their close relationship with Eva through 2008. Vicki was in frequent contact with her aunt, speaking with Eva on the phone when she couldn't visit because of work demands. (RP 43) Eva frequently called Vicki at work. (RP 43) Marsha, who lived only 15 minutes away, brought her boys to visit Eva on a regular basis. (RP 130-32) Because of snow, Eva did not want to travel to the family Christmas Eve celebration in 2008, but insisted that Vicki come by her home to pick up presents for the rest of the family. (RP 43)

## 5. Eva's mental and emotional health deteriorated significantly after Eva suffered a fall at her home.

In 2009, Eva began exhibiting unusual behavior that caused the Rovas to become concerned about their aunt's well being. She became forgetful and confused. (RP 44) Eva allowed her home to reach a level of clutter that the Rovas found disturbing. Newspapers, mail, magazines and personal possessions were piled throughout the house, making the halls narrow and difficult to pass through. (RP 44-45, 49)

On March 26, 2009, Eva suffered a serious fall in the kitchen of her home. (FF 13, CP 1130) She was alone and unable to get up off the floor to summon assistance. (FF 13, CP 1130) Eva lay helpless on her kitchen floor for two and a half days before a neighbor looked in the window to find Eva on the floor. (RP 384)

Emergency responders broke into Eva's home and rushed her to Harrison Medical Center. (FF 14, CP 1131) Eva was severely dehydrated and in critical condition. (FF 14, CP 1131) She remained at Harrison Medical Center for three days. (FF 15, 1131) While at the hospital, Eva was confused about her own finances, and could not remember why she had written a check for over two (RP 48, 135) The medical professionals at thousand dollars. documented significant cognitive Harrison observed and impairment. (FF 15, CP 1131)

The fire department personnel, who transported Eva to the hospital, found the condition of Eva's home so extreme that they would not allow Eva to return home unless changes were made. (FF 25, CP 1133; RP 346) The clutter, stacked from floor to ceiling, made it impossible to get from the living room to the bedroom. (RP 164) Stacks of magazines and papers were near heat sources including the baseboards and wood stove. (FF 27, CP 1133) They

found a dead mouse and cat food bags that were ripped open. (RP 50, 164)

As Eva became hydrated and rested, her strength returned and in less than a week she had sufficiently recovered from her fall to be moved to Martha & Mary for rehabilitation on April 1, 2009. (FF 16, CP 1131) The Rovas visited with Eva regularly during her twelve day stay at Martha & Mary. (FF 18, CP 1131-32) They feared for Eva's health and safety, as did all of the medical professionals that treated her after her fall. (FF 18, 1131-32) The medical professionals that treated Eva during her stay at Martha & Mary, including her physician Dr. Kina, agreed that Eva was not strong or healthy enough to return home and that it would be in her best interest to temporarily reside at some kind of assisted living facility. (FF 18, 32; CP 1131-32, 1134) They also noted her cognitive impairment. (FF 17, CP 1131; Ex. 1 at 201, 226, 230, 267)

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